

**UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA**

JENNIFER MURPHY, individually, and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff,

v.

GRACO CHILDREN'S PRODUCTS, INC.
and NEWELL BRANDS DTC, INC.,

Defendants.

Civil Action No.:

**CLASS ACTION
COMPLAINT**

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiff Jennifer Murphy ("Plaintiff"), on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, brings this action for violations of state consumer statutes and the common law against Graco Children's Products, Inc. and Newell Brands DTC, Inc. (collectively, "Defendants" or "Graco") for their misleading marketing of, and sale of, poorly-designed, mislabeled, and defective booster seats to the Plaintiff and other unsuspecting consumers.

Plaintiff's allegations are based upon personal knowledge as to herself and her own actions, and upon information and belief as to all other matters, which are based upon, among other things, the investigation of counsel.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. Graco manufactures and markets children's products, including infant car seats, booster seats, infant strollers, portable play yards, swings, activity centers, highchairs, and other indoor and outdoor infant products.

2. At issue in this case are Graco's TurboBooster Highback Car Seat and Graco's AFFIX Youth Booster Seat (together "Booster Seats"), which are high back booster seats that Graco has marketed as safe for children who weigh as little as 30 pounds. But, as discussed further below, Graco has known since as early as 2002 that the Booster Seats are not safe for any child weighing less than 40 pounds. Since 1987, Canada has not allowed the sale of boosters for use with children under 40 pounds. And, nearly a decade ago, the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration ("NHTSA") warned against using any booster seat for any child weighing less than 40 pounds, noting that such use can endanger those children. Instead, parents should continue to use child seats that have an internal five-point harness.

3. The recommended safe practice is for parents to continue to put their children in forward-facing child seats until the child reaches the height and weight limit of that seat (which is often 65 pounds or more). As AAA warns, "Don't rush to move your child to a booster seat before they are ready. Each time you

‘graduate’ your child to the next seat, there’s a reduction in the level of protection for your child. Keep your child in each stage as long as possible.”¹

4. But, Graco wanted to corner the market on booster seats and thus falsely claims parents can safely transition their children to Graco booster seats once they reach 30 pounds, even though all scientific and crash test evidence proves that to be extremely risky and unsafe.

5. Graco also holds out its Booster Seats as providing substantial side-impact safety in accordance with claimed “rigorous” side-impact testing. But, in reality, the Booster Seats provide no appreciable side-impact protection and instead are extremely dangerous for their advertised use. Additionally, Graco’s misrepresentations misleadingly suggest there are uniform side impact testing standards for booster seats and that Graco’s Booster Seats pass those standards. In reality, there are no such standards and Graco is saying nothing more than the Booster Seats pass whatever arbitrary and undisclosed internal tests Graco has conjured for itself.

6. A recent investigation by ProPublica shed light on how inadequately Graco’s Booster Seats protects children from side impacts, as well as for children,

¹ <https://exchange.aaa.com/safety/child-safety/car-seats/car-seat-faqs/#.XwtQ9-dlBPY>

generally, who weigh less than 40 pounds. ProPublica's side impact testing on Graco's Booster Seats demonstrated that such impacts could lead to serious injuries – and even death - in the event of a side-impact crash.²

7. Yet Graco continues to market its Booster Seats as "SIDE IMPACT TESTED," and safe for children weighing less than 40 pounds, placing children in serious threat of physical harm.

8. Defendants' marketing of its Booster Seats as safe for children weighing less than 40 pounds and providing protection against side-impact accidents is dangerously false and misleading, as the product is not safe for children weighing under 40 pounds and does not provide appreciable safety to children from side-impacts.

9. The Booster Seats are inherently unsafe and unfit for their intended use. Use of the Booster Seats poses serious safety risks that has led to many documented injuries of children who were seated in Graco's Booster Seats in side-impact crashes.

² Daniela Porat, Patricia Callahan, *Evenflo, Maker of the "Big Kid" Booster Seat, Put Profits Over Child Safety*, ProPublica (Feb. 6, 2020), <https://www.propublica.org/article/evenflo-maker-of-the-big-kid-booster-seat-put-profits-over-child-safety>.

10. Graco is also no stranger to litigation over its defective car seats. In 2015, Graco agreed to pay \$10 million to settle claims that it failed to promptly recall about four million child car seats with defective buckles. That included a \$3 million fine to NHTSA and \$7 million to develop safety programs.³

PARTIES

11. Plaintiff Jennifer Murphy is and was, at all times relevant hereto, a citizen of the state of Ohio. Murphy purchased Graco's TurboBooster Seat for her child on or around June, 2019.

12. Defendant Graco Children's Product, Inc. is a Delaware Corporation with its principal place of business at 6655 Peachtree Dunwoody Road, Atlanta, Georgia 30328. Graco Children's Products is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Defendants Newell Brands DTC, Inc.

13. Defendant Newell Brands DTC, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 6655 Peachtree Dunwoody Road, Atlanta, Georgia 30328. Baby Gear and infant care products are sold under the Graco product line.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

14. This Court has original jurisdiction pursuant to the Class Action

³ https://www.nytimes.com/2015/03/21/business/graco-to-pay-10-million-for-delay-in-recall-of-defective-child-seats.html?_r=0

Fairness Act (“CAFA”), 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), because the aggregate amount in controversy exceeds \$5,000,000, exclusive of interests and costs, there are more than 100 class members, and at least one class member is a citizen of a state different from Defendants.

15. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

16. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they are headquartered in this District, have regular and systematic contacts with this District, and place their products into the stream of commerce from this District.

17. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because the Defendants maintain their headquarters in this District.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

11. Graco is an American baby products company based in Atlanta, Georgia. Graco is owned and operated by Newell Brands. Graco is one of the leading manufacturers and marketers of infant and juvenile products, including the Booster Seats. Graco sells its products through national retail stores such as Walmart and Target, as well as online via Amazon and direct-to-consumer through its website Gracobaby.com.

12. Children's car safety seats are generally grouped around three basic designs that follow a child's growing height and weight: rear-facing seats, forward-facing seats with harnesses, and belt-positioning booster seats. Rear-facing seats provide the most protection and are designed for infants and children under 2 years old. They are designed to support the head, neck, and spine of developing infants. Forward-facing seats are for children who have outgrown rear-facing only seats and usually have a five-point belt system designed to provide maximum restraint. Booster seats are designed for children who have outgrown the weight or height limit of their forward-facing seat and elevate the child's seated position while allowing use of the car's regular seatbelts.

13. Each move up—from rear-facing to front-facing and from front-facing to booster—as the child gets older provides less complete protection, with the theory being that as the child gets older and stronger, he or she is more able to withstand normal crash forces without full restraint. But this also means it is imperative to keep the child in the lower level child seat until the child has fully outgrown it.

14. Graco's TurboBooster Seat and Graco's AFFIX Youth Booster models are belt-positioning booster car seats, and are used to elevate children

sitting in automobiles so that they can use the vehicle's seat belt system. Graco produces a variety of styles of the TurboBooster Seat and the AFFIX including the TurboBooster LX model and the AFFIX Atomic model. Graco marketed these high back booster seats as safe for use by children as light as 30 pounds despite knowing that these Booster Seats are not safe for children weighing under 40 pounds. Graco also marketed its Booster Seats as "Side-Impact Tested," despite the absence of any federal or state side-impact testing standards, and despite the Booster Seats failing to provide appreciable safety from side impacts.



AFFIX



TurboBooster

15. Defendants' Booster Seats are inherently unsafe as a child booster car seat and unfit for their intended use. They pose serious safety risks that have led to many documented injuries of children who were seated in them.

16. Graco has faced lawsuits by the families of children who have been injured or killed in accidents while in one of Graco's Booster Seats. For example, the parents of a child who weighed 32 pounds and was rendered a quadriplegic

while riding in a Graco TurboBooster seat sued Graco, alleging Graco knew that its Booster Seats were not safe for children under 40 pounds because they are too small to be protected.⁴

17. The child's attorneys had a side-impact test performed on a Graco TurboBooster, which resulted in the child-sized dummy in the Graco booster seat being thrown out of the shoulder belt.⁵ Graco did not respond to questions about the test after ProPublica shared the data and video from the test.⁶

A. Graco Falsely Marketed its Booster Seats as Safe for Children Weighing Less than 40 Pounds

18. The American Academy of Pediatrics' ("AAP") best practices for optimizing passenger safety provide that:

- Infants and toddlers should ride in a rear-facing car safety seat as long as possible, until they reach the highest weight or height allowed by their seat. Most convertible seats have limits that will allow children to ride rear-facing for 2 years or more.
- Once they are facing forward, children should use a forward-facing car safety seat with a harness for as long as possible, until they reach the height and weight limits for their seats. Many seats can accommodate children up to 65 pounds or more.

⁴ <https://www.propublica.org/article/evenflo-maker-of-the-big-kid-booster-seat-put-profits-over-child-safety>.

⁵ <https://www.propublica.org/article/evenflo-maker-of-the-big-kid-booster-seat-put-profits-over-child-safety>

⁶ *Id.*

- When children exceed these limits, they should use a belt-positioning booster seat until the vehicle's lap and shoulder seat belt fits properly. This is often when they have reached at least 4 feet 9 inches in height and are 8 to 12 years old.⁷

19. The AAP has long explained that parents should not move children from a harnessed seat to a booster seat *until they reach the maximum weight* or height of their harnessed seat.

20. Since the early 2000s, the AAP has explained that car seats with an internal harness provide the best protection for children who weigh 40 pounds or less. Today, almost all harnessed seats can accommodate children up to 65 pounds and as tall as 4 feet, 1 inch. Some internal harnessed car seats can fit children up to 85 pounds.

21. Scientific consensus confirms that booster seats fail to protect toddlers adequately. An adult seat belt must remain across the middle of the occupant's shoulder and thighs to obtain the full safety benefit in a crash. Even if young children are tall enough for a belt to reach their shoulders, they tend to slide out of position, losing safety protection.

22. By contrast, a tightly adjusted five-point harness goes between the child's legs and secures her shoulders and hips. By securing a child's body, a five-

⁷ <https://www.aap.org/en-us/about-the-aap/aap-press-room/Pages/AAP-Updates-Recommendations-on-Car-Seats-for-Children.aspx>

point harness disperses the force of a crash over a wider area and makes it less likely for the child to be ejected in a crash.

23. In 2010, NHTSA issued a report reiterating that “[f]orward-facing (convertible or combination) child seats are recommended for children age 1 to 4, **or until they reach 40 lbs**” and finding that “[e]arly graduation from child restraint seats (CRS) to booster seats may also present safety risks.”⁸

24. And in 2011, the AAP revised its 1989 Policy Statement regarding booster seat use. In the revised Policy Statement, the AAP issued a “best practice recommendation” that, for children 2 to 8 years of age, children should remain in “convertible” or “combination” child safety seats (using integrated harnesses) so long as their weight was less than the limit for the seats . The AAP specifically recommended that children remain in harnessed seats "as long as possible," at least until they weigh 65 pounds, and in some cases 85 pounds.

25. Likewise, Consumer Reports states that “If you are using any booster seat, and your child weighs less than 40 pounds and is younger than 4 years old, [Consumer Reports] recommends that you return your child to a

⁸ <https://crashstats.nhtsa.dot.gov/Api/Public/ViewPublication/811338> (emphasis added).

forward-facing harness seat.”⁹

26. Part of the reasoning behind these recommendations is that the average age for a 30 pound child is two and a half years, and a large child in the 95th percentile for weight can easily approach 30 pounds. The ages are far too young for children to be sitting in booster seats. By contrast, an average 40 pound child is closer to five years old.¹⁰

27. However, even *after* the AAP made clear that children who weigh 40 pounds or less were best protected by harnessed seats, Graco labeled and marketed the Booster Seats in the United States as able to “safely transport” children as light as 30 pounds. Graco simply ignored the overwhelming evidence that the Booster Seats were not safe for children under 40 pounds.¹¹

28. Graco did not change the minimum weight requirement of 30 pounds to 40 pounds until very recently. Although certain Graco Booster Seats sold on Walmart, Amazon and Target websites include the following update: “To continue to meet industry standards, we have increased the weight minimum from 30 to 40

⁹ <https://www.consumerreports.org/booster-seats/when-is-the-right-time-for-a-booster-seat/>

¹⁰ <https://www.consumerreports.org/cro/news/2013/04/minimum-weight-limits-on-some-booster-seats-may-put-a-child-at-risk/index.htm>

¹¹ <https://web.archive.org/web/20191016231356/http://www.gracobaby.com/en-US/belt-positioning-booster/turbo booster-lx-highback-seat-with-latch-system-103557>

lb,” Graco continues to market its boosters to children who weigh as little as 30 pounds.

29. For example, Graco’s product page on BestBuy.com for its TurboBooster Highback Booster Car Seat still promotes a 30-pound minimum weight recommendation:¹²

Graco
Graco - TurboBooster Highback Booster Car Seat - Glacier
Model: 1963075 SKU: 6347577
★★★★★ 4.8 (44 Reviews) | 1 Answered Question



Convertible car seat

Features two modes of use: high-back mode for children 30-100 lbs. and backless mode for children 40-100 lbs.

¹² <https://www.bestbuy.com/site/graco-turbobooster-highback-booster-car-seat-glacier/6347577.p?skuId=6347577> (last visited July 10, 2020).

30. Graco similarly still provides a 30-pound minimum on its Best Buy product page for its AFFIX Youth Booster Car Seat,¹³ and on its Amazon product page for its Highback TurboBooster.¹⁴

31. Graco has long been fully aware that its Booster Seats are not safe for children weighing less than 40 pounds. The Canadian iteration of its Graco's manual for the Booster Seats expressly warns users that "FAILURE TO USE booster seat in a manner appropriate for your child's size may increase the risk of serious injury or death." Among the requirements for use of Graco's Booster Seats is a weight minimum of 40 pounds.¹⁵

¹³ <https://www.bestbuy.com/site/graco-affix-youth-booster-car-seat-atomic/6347582.p?skuId=6347582> (last visited July 13, 2020).

¹⁴ <https://www.amazon.com/Graco-Highback-TurboBooster-Seat-Alma/dp/B01N94DDVG?th=1> (last visited July 13, 2020).

¹⁵ <https://www.gracobaby.ca/html/common/manuals/PD220791E%20TurboBooster%20Eng.pdf>

Weight and Height Limits

⚠ WARNING

FAILURE TO USE booster seat in a manner appropriate for your child's size may increase the risk of serious injury or death.

To use this Graco booster seat, your child **MUST** meet ALL of the following requirements: **(approximately 4 to 10 years old):**

- weigh between 18 and 45 kg (mass between 40 and 100 lbs), and
- are between 101 and 145 cm (40 and 57 inches) in height, and
- the shoulder belt **MUST** lie across child's shoulders in red zone as shown in **1** or **2** and the lap portion is positioned low on the child's hips, and (see next page)




32. Despite the consensus among experts and its own knowledge on the safety risks of placing children under 40 pounds in a booster seat, Graco nevertheless continues to market its Booster Seats in the United States as safe for children weighing 30 pounds to 100 pounds.

B. Graco Falsely Markets its Booster Seats as Protecting Children from Side Impacts

33. Graco also falsely represents to consumers that its Booster Seats offer protection to children in the event of side-impact crashes. Graco claims “[t]his seat

is Graco ProtectPlus Engineered to help protect your child in frontal, *side*, rear & rollover crashes.”¹⁶ Graco’s Booster Seats also have tags which prominently state: “SIDE IMPACT TESTED.”



34. In addition, Graco misleadingly represents on its website that its products are thoroughly tested and safe. For example, Graco’s “Safety Information & Guidelines” claim:

Our number one priority is safety for the children who depend on our products every day. And, nowhere is safety more important than in the car. While specific and rigid government safety requirements guide the design and production of every car seat we make, we, at Graco, take extra steps to meet or exceed those standards to help protect your little one.

35. Graco touts its “Protectplus Engineered” testing as a “combination of the most rigorous crash tests that help to protect your little one in frontal, side, rear & rollover crashes, and additional testing based on the New Car Assessment Program and for extreme car interior temperatures.” Graco also claims the

¹⁶ <https://www.gracobaby.com/en-US/safety> (emphasis added).

following with respect to this testing: “In addition to meeting or exceeding all applicable US safety standards, this car seat has been side-impact tested for occupant retention with the built in 5-point harness system and in the highback belt-positioning modes.”¹⁷

36. Graco further states that its tests meet or surpass “criteria outlined in Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standard 213 (“FVMSS 213”) which is NHTSA’s standard for child car seats.”¹⁸

37. But Graco’s deceptive marketing fails to disclose to consumers that its Side Impact testing is merely a marketing gimmick and not intended to test whether a child would be protected in a side-impact crash from injury, including from serious injury or death. There are no federal or state side-impact testing rules or standards, so its statements that its testing, including side-impact safety testing, meets or surpasses FMVSS 213 is patently false. In fact, Graco itself admits on its website that “there are currently no side impact safety standards in the US.”¹⁹

38. Graco further misleads consumers by describing its Booster Seats as equipped with “EPS,” or “energy absorbing foam.” Graco promotes EPS as a “key feature,” which adds additional safety to children from side-impact collisions.

¹⁷ *Id.*

¹⁸ *Id.*

¹⁹ <https://www.gracobaby.com/en-US/safety?storeId=65051&catalogId=65051> (last visited July 9, 2020).

39. The “EPS” in Graco’s Booster Seats is actually nothing more than Styrofoam. But by calling it “EPS,” Graco implies it is some kind of special protective material and misleads consumers into believing that their children will be safe in the event of a side-impact collision.

40. When asked for comments by ProPublica, Graco declined to provide test videos or even the basic details of how their side-impact tests are performed. A Graco spokeswoman only stated that the company is “committed to child safety.”²⁰

41. ProPublica’s exposé included short, repeating videos showing side-impact testing on booster seats. Although Graco competitor Evenflo’s booster seat was the product tested in the videos, still photos of those video nevertheless offer a glimpse of how inadequately children are protected by such vehicle crashes:



²⁰ <https://www.propublica.org/article/evenflo-maker-of-the-big-kid-booster-seat-put-profits-over-child-safety>.

42. Graco's side-impact safety testing lulls consumers into falsely believing that their children are protected in the event of a side-impact crash. And the threat of side-impact crashes cannot be overstated: More than a quarter of deaths of children under 15 in vehicle collisions in 2018 came as a result of side-impact crashes.²¹

PLAINTIFF'S FACTS

43. In or around June, 2019, Plaintiff Murphy purchased a Graco TurboBooster Seat for her child from Walmart.

44. Murphy purchased the Booster Seat believing that it would be safe for her child and would provide adequate side-impact safety protection in the event of a side-impact collision.

45. Had Murphy known that the Booster Seat was not safe for her child, she would not have purchased the Booster Seat, and would have instead purchased a safer alternative.

46. On or about July 15, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel sent notice to Graco concerning its wrongful conduct as alleged herein by Plaintiff and the Class members and, in the event the relief requested is not provided by Defendant, Plaintiff intends to amend the complaint to add a claim under the Georgia Uniform

²¹ *Id.*

Deceptive Trade Practices Act. In addition, Graco has already been placed on notice of the claims herein as of the date of the first filed lawsuit and has resisted any prompt or fair resolution with consumers/class members.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

47. Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a), including subsections (b)(2), (b)(3), and (c)(4), Plaintiff Murphy, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, brings this lawsuit on behalf of herself and on behalf of the proposed Classes:

A. The Nationwide Class

48. Plaintiff seeks to represent a proposed Nationwide Class, defined as follows:

All persons who purchased a Booster Seat in the United States for personal use and not for resale.

B. The Ohio Class

49. Plaintiff seeks to represent a proposed subclass comprised of Ohio residents (the “Ohio Subclass”), defined as follows:

All persons who purchased a Booster Seat in the State of Ohio for personal use and not for resale.

50. Excluded from the Classes are Defendants and any entities in which Defendants or their parents, subsidiaries or affiliates have a controlling interest, and Defendants' officers, agents, and employees. Also excluded from the Classes are the judge assigned to this action, members of the judge's staff, and any member of the judge's immediate family. Plaintiff reserves the right to amend the Class definitions if discovery and further investigation reveal that the Class should be expanded or otherwise modified.

51. **Numerosity:** The members of each Class are so numerous that joinder of all members of any Class would be impracticable. Plaintiff reasonably believes that members of each of the Classes total well over 1,000 persons. The names and addresses of Class members are identifiable through, among other things, documents maintained by Defendants.

52. **Commonality and Predominance:** This action involves common questions of law or fact, which predominate over any questions affecting individual Class members, including:

- a. Whether Defendants' Booster Seats are unsafe for child occupants weighing less than 40 pounds;
- b. Whether Defendants owed a duty of care to Plaintiff and members of the Classes;

- c. Whether Defendants were negligent or grossly negligent in representing that the Booster Seats were safe for child occupants weighing less than 40 pounds;
- d. Whether Defendants were negligent or grossly negligent in representing the Booster Seats were side-impact tested and safe;
- e. Whether Defendants represented through advertising, marketing, and labeling that the Booster Seats were safe for child occupants weighing less than 40 pounds and/or safe in a side-impact crash;
- f. Whether the representations and/or omissions Defendants made through its advertising, marketing, and labeling are false, misleading, or deceptive;
- g. Whether Defendants' representations and/or omissions in advertising, marketing, and labeling are likely to mislead a reasonable consumer;
- h. Whether Defendants had knowledge that its representations and/or omissions in advertising, marketing, and labeling were false, deceptive, or misleading;

- i. Whether Defendants engaged in unlawful, fraudulent, or unfair business practices;
- j. Whether Defendants violated statutes and/or common law as described herein;
- k. Whether Plaintiff and the other Class members are entitled to damages; and
- l. Whether Plaintiff and the other Class members are entitled to declaratory or injunctive relief.

53. Similar or identical statutory and common law violations, business practices, and injuries are involved. Individual questions, if any, pale by comparison, in both quantity and quality, to the numerous common questions that dominate this action.

54. **Typicality:** Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the other members of the Class because, among other things, Plaintiff and the other Class members were injured through the substantially uniform misconduct by Defendants. Plaintiff is advancing the same claims and legal theories on behalf of herself and all other Class members, and there are no defenses that are unique to Plaintiff. The claims of Plaintiff and of other Class members arise from the same operative facts and are based on the same legal theories.

55. **Adequacy of Representation:** Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the Class because her interests do not conflict with the interests of the other Class members she seeks to represent; Plaintiff has retained counsel competent and experienced in complex class action litigation and Plaintiff will prosecute this action vigorously. The Class members' interests will be fairly and adequately protected by Plaintiff and her counsel.

56. **Superiority:** A class action is superior to any other available means for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy, and no unusual difficulties are likely to be encountered in the management of this matter as a class action. The damages, harm, or other financial detriment suffered individually by Plaintiff and the other members of the Class are relatively small compared to the burden and expense that would be required to litigate their claims on an individual basis against Defendants, making it impracticable for Class members to individually seek redress for Defendants' wrongful conduct. Even if Class members could afford individual litigation, the court system could not. Individualized litigation would create a potential for inconsistent or contradictory judgments and increase the delay and expense to all parties and the court system. By contrast, the class action device presents far fewer management difficulties and

provides the benefits of single adjudication, economies of scale, and comprehensive supervision by a single court.

57. Further, Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the Class and, accordingly, final injunctive or corresponding declaratory relief with regard to the members of the Class as a whole is appropriate under Rule 23(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

58. Likewise, particular issues under Rule 23(c)(4) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are appropriate for certification because such claims present only particular, common issues, the resolution of which would advance the disposition of this matter and the parties' interests therein. Such particular issues include, but are not limited to, those set forth in paragraph 52 above, which are incorporated by reference herein.

TOLLING OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

A. Continuing Act Tolling

59. Beginning in 2009, Defendants continuously marketed and sold the dangerous Booster Seats to unsuspecting parents and caregivers. They continuously represented these Booster Seats as safe for children weighing as little as 30 pounds and safe in a side impact crash. By continuously repeating these false representations, and failing to disclose that the Booster Seats were inherently

unsafe in a side impact crash for children of any weight and age and exposed children to great risk of injury and death, Defendants engaged in a continuing wrong sufficient to render inapplicable any statute of limitations that Defendants might seek to apply.

60. Defendants' knowledge of the true inherent nature of the Booster Seats is evidenced by, among other things: numerous complaints by consumers of injury and death; by warnings from the AAP and major consumer groups; by lawsuits against them for children's death and other injuries.

61. Thus, at all relevant times, Defendants indisputably possessed continuous knowledge of the material dangers posed by the Booster Seats during a side impact crash, and, yet, they knowingly continued to aggressively market and sell the product as safe for children as small as 30 pounds and in the event of side-impact collisions. Plaintiff and other Class members' claims are not time barred.

B. Fraudulent Concealment Tolling

62. Defendants had a duty to disclose to Plaintiff and the Class members the true quality and nature of the Booster Seats, that they were unsafe, and that the Booster Seats, at a minimum, pose safety concerns and are in fact dangerous to children weighing less than 40 pounds and in a side-impact collision.

63. This duty arose, among other things, due to Defendants' overt representations that the Booster Seats were safe for children as small as 30 pounds and in side-impact collisions.

64. Defendants have known at all relevant times of the risks that the Booster Seats posed to children weighing less than 40 pounds and in a side-impact collision. Prior to selling the Booster Seats, Defendants knew or, but for their extreme recklessness, should have known that the Booster Seats posed a risk to children weighing less than 40 pounds and were not safe in a side-impact collision. These facts cannot have been unknown to Defendants in the absence of extreme recklessness.

65. Despite their knowledge of the defective design and danger of the product when used as intended, Defendants failed to disclose and concealed this material information from Plaintiff and other Class members, and instead they continued to market the Booster Seats as safe for children weighing under 40 pounds and in side-impact collisions.

66. The purpose of Defendants' concealment of the dangers of the Booster Seats was to continue to profit from the sale of the Booster Seats and to prevent Plaintiff and other Class members from seeking redress.

67. Plaintiff and the other Class members justifiably relied on Defendants to disclose the true nature of the products they purchased and/or owned because the truth was not discoverable by Plaintiff and the other Class members through reasonable efforts.

68. Any applicable statute of limitations has been tolled by Defendants' knowledge, active concealment, and denial of the facts alleged herein, which behavior is ongoing.

C. Discovery Rule Tolling

69. Plaintiff and other Class members, through the exercise of reasonable diligence, could not have discovered Defendants' wrongdoing. Defendants were concealing and misrepresenting the true nature of the Booster Seats and the safety risks in their use.

70. Plaintiff and other Class members could not have reasonably discovered, and could not have known of facts that would have caused a reasonable person to suspect, that Defendants knowingly failed to disclose material information within their knowledge about the dangers of the Booster Seats to consumers in the U.S. and elsewhere.

71. As such, no potentially relevant statute of limitations should be applied.

D. Estoppel

72. Defendants were under a continuous duty to disclose to Plaintiff and other Class members the fact they knew that the Booster Seats were not safe for children weighing less than 40 pounds and were not safe in the event of a side-impact collision.

73. Defendants knowingly, affirmatively, and actively concealed the true nature, quality, and character of the Booster Seats from Plaintiff and other members of the Class.

74. Thus, Defendants are estopped from relying on any statutes of limitations in defense of this action.

First Claim for Relief
VIOLATION OF THE MAGNUSON-MOSS WARRANTY ACT
15 U.S.C. § 2301, *et seq.*
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Nationwide Class)

75. Plaintiff repeats, realleges, and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 74 as though fully stated herein.

76. Plaintiff brings this count on behalf of herself and members of the Nationwide Class.

77. The sale of the Booster Seats was subject to the provisions and regulations of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2301, *et seq.*

78. The Booster Seats are “consumer products” as defined in the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2301(1).

79. Plaintiff and the other Nationwide Class members are “consumers” as defined by the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2301(3).

80. Defendants are “suppliers” and “warrantors” as defined by the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2301(4)-(5).

81. The Booster Seats’ implied warranties are covered by the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2301(7).

82. Defendants breached these warranties, as further described above, by not disclosing the true nature of the Booster Seats, and by providing the Booster Seats not in merchantable condition and not fit for the ordinary purpose for which they are used. They are also not fit for the specific purposes for which Defendants sold them and for which Class members purchased and/or owned them.

83. Privity is not required in this case because Plaintiff and the other Class members are intended third-party beneficiaries of contracts between Defendants and those who sell their products; specifically, they are the intended beneficiaries of Defendants’ express and implied warranties. The vendors were not intended to

be the ultimate consumers of the Booster Seats and have no rights under the warranty agreements provided with the Booster Seats; the warranty agreements were designed for and intended to benefit the ultimate consumers only. Finally, privity is also not required because the Booster Seats are dangerous instrumentalities due to the unsafe nature for children weighing under 40 pounds and not safe in side-impact crashes.

84. Requiring an informal dispute settlement procedure, or affording Defendants a reasonable opportunity to cure their breach of written warranties, is unnecessary and futile.

85. Defendants knew, should have known, or were reckless in not knowing, of their misrepresentations concerning the Booster Seats, but nonetheless failed to rectify the situation and/or disclose the truth. Under the circumstances, the remedies available under any informal settlement procedure would be inadequate and any requirement – whether under the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act or otherwise– that Plaintiff resort to an informal dispute resolution procedure and/or afford Defendants a reasonable opportunity to cure their breach of warranties is excused and thereby deemed satisfied.

86. Plaintiff and the other Class members have been damaged as a result of the wrongful conduct complained of herein. Said conduct continues and the harm or risk of harm is ongoing.

87. The amount in controversy exceeds the statutory minimums set forth at 15 U.S.C. § 2310(d)(3). Each Class member's individual claim is equal to or larger than \$25 and the cumulative amount in controversy (excluding interest and costs) exceeds \$50,000.

88. As a result of Defendants' violations of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act and warranties with consumers, Plaintiff and the other members of the Class have been damaged in an amount to be determined at trial.

Second Claim for Relief
FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Nationwide Class)

89. Plaintiff repeats, realleges, and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 74 as though fully stated herein.

90. Plaintiff brings this count on behalf of herself and members of the Nationwide Class.

91. Graco has a duty to disclose the truth regarding the safety of their Booster Seats for children weighing less than 40 pounds, as well as in side-impact collisions, because the safety of the Booster Seats has a direct impact on the health and safety of the children who occupy them.

92. Graco made false statements and omissions of material facts concerning the safety of its Booster Seats, including, *inter alia*: misrepresenting that its Booster Seats are safe for children who weigh as little as 30 pounds; misrepresenting that its Booster Seats are “SIDE IMPACT TESTED,” when, in fact, there are no federal or state testing standards for side-impacts and Graco set its own standards; and misrepresenting that its Booster Seats offer side-impact safety to child occupants.

93. Graco’s false statements and omissions of material facts were made to Plaintiff and members of the Nationwide Class when they purchased the Booster Seats.

94. Graco intended that its false statements and omissions of material fact would induce Plaintiff and members of the Nationwide Class to purchase its Booster Seat.

95. Plaintiff and members of the Nationwide Class reasonably relied on the false statements and omissions of material facts regarding the Booster Seats, as described above.

96. Graco's false statements and omissions of material facts directly and proximately caused the damages suffered by Plaintiff and members of the Nationwide Class.

97. As a result of Graco's false statements and omissions of material facts, Plaintiff and members of the Nationwide Class have been damaged in an amount to be proven at trial.

98. Graco's conduct showed malice, motive, and a reckless disregard of the truth such that an award of punitive damages is appropriate.

99. Because Graco's deceptive and unfair conduct is ongoing, injunctive relief is necessary and proper.

Third Claim for Relief
VIOLATION OF THE OHIO DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT
Ohio Rev. Code § 4165.01, *et seq.*
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Ohio Subclass)

100. Plaintiff repeats, realleges, and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 74 as though fully stated herein.

101. Plaintiff brings this count on behalf of herself and members of the Ohio Subclass.

102. Defendants, Plaintiff, and members of the Ohio Subclass are “persons” within the meaning of Ohio Rev. Code § 4165.01(D).

103. Graco advertised, offered, or sold goods or services in Ohio and engaged in trade or commerce directly or indirectly affecting the people of Ohio.

104. Graco engaged in deceptive trade practices in the course of its business and vocation, in violation of Ohio Rev. Code § 4165.02, including: representing that its goods and services have characteristics, uses, benefits, or qualities that they do not have, in violation of Ohio Rev. Code § 4165.02(A)(7); representing that its goods and services are of a particular standard or quality when they are of another, in violation of Ohio Rev. Code § 4165.02(A)(9); and advertising its goods and services with intent not to sell them as advertise, in violation of Ohio Rev. Code § 4165.02(A)(11).

105. In the course of their business, Defendants, through their agents, employees, and/or subsidiaries, violated the Ohio Deceptive Trade Practices Act (“ODTPA”) by knowingly and intentionally misrepresenting, omitting, concealing and/or failing to disclose material facts about the safety of the Booster Seats, as detailed above.

106. Specifically, by misrepresenting the Booster Seats as safe for child occupants weighing less than 40 pounds and in side-impact collisions, Defendants engaged in one or more of the following unfair or deceptive business practices prohibited by Ohio Rev. Code § 4165.02:

- a. Causing likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding as to the approval or certification of the Booster Seats;
- b. Representing that the Booster Seats have characteristics, uses, benefits, and qualities which they do not have;
- c. Representing that the Booster Seats are of a particular standard, quality, and grade when they are not;
- d. Advertising the Booster Seats with the intent not to sell or lease them as advertised; and

- e. Engaging in unconscionable, false, misleading, and deceptive acts and practices in the conduct of trade or commerce pertaining to the Booster Seats.

Ohio Rev. Code § 4165.02.

107. Defendants' unfair or deceptive acts or practices, including their misrepresentations, concealments, omissions, and suppressions of material facts, had a tendency or capacity to mislead and create a false impression in consumers, and were likely to and did in fact deceive reasonable consumers, including Plaintiff and members of the Ohio Subclass, about the true safety of the Booster Seats, the quality of the Booster Seats, and the true value of the Booster Seats.

108. Defendants' representations about the minimum child weight appropriate for use in the Booster Seats, as well as their safety in the event of side-impact collisions, were material to Plaintiff and members of the Ohio Subclass. Had they known the truth, Plaintiff and members of the Ohio Subclass would not have purchased the Booster Seats, or would have paid significantly less for them.

109. Plaintiff and members of the Ohio Subclass had no way of discerning that Defendants' representations were false and misleading, or otherwise learning the facts that Defendants concealed or failed to disclose.

110. Defendants had an ongoing duty to Plaintiff and members of the Alabama Subclass to refrain from unfair or deceptive practices under the ODTPA in the course of their business. Specifically, Defendants owed Plaintiff and members of the Ohio Subclass a duty to disclose all material facts concerning the appropriate minimum weight for child occupants and side-impact safety qualities and characteristics because they possessed exclusive knowledge, they intentionally concealed these traits from Plaintiff and members of the Ohio Subclass, and/or they made misrepresentations that were rendered misleading because they were contradicted by withheld facts.

111. As a direct and proximate result of Graco's deceptive acts and practices, Plaintiffs and absent Ohio Subclass members have suffered and will continue to suffer injury, ascertainable losses of money or property, and monetary and non-monetary damages, including from not receiving the benefit of their bargain in purchasing the Booster Seats and increased expense in replacing them with another child safety seat.

112. Defendants' violations present a continuing risk to Plaintiff and members of the Ohio Subclass, as well as to the general public. Defendants' unlawful acts and practices complained of herein affect the public interest.

113. Plaintiff and Ohio Subclass members seek all monetary and non-monetary relief allowed by law, including injunctive relief, actual damages, attorneys' fees, and any other relief that is just and proper.

Fourth Claim for Relief.
OHIO CONSUMER SALES PRACTICES ACT
Ohio Rev. Code § 1345.01 *et seq.*
(On behalf of Plaintiff and the Ohio Subclass)

114. Plaintiff repeats, realleges, and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 74 as though fully stated herein.

115. Plaintiff Murphy and the members of Ohio Subclass are “consumers” within the meaning of Ohio Rev. Code § 1345.01(D).

116. Graco is a “supplier” as that term is defined by Ohio Rev. Code § 1345.01(C).

117. Ohio Rev. Code § 1345.02(A) provides that “No supplier shall commit an unfair or deceptive act or practice in connection with a consumer transaction. Such an unfair or deceptive act or practice by a supplier violates this section whether it occurs before, during, or after the transaction.” Ohio Rev. Code § 1345.02 (A).

118. Graco committed deceptive acts as described above, including but not limited to purposely marketing its Booster Seats as safe for children under 40 pounds and safe during a side impact crash.

119. Graco engaged in an unfair practice by engaging in conduct that is contrary to public policy, unscrupulous, and caused injury to Plaintiff and the Ohio Subclass members.

120. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing, Plaintiff and the Ohio Subclass members have suffered injuries including, but not limited to actual damages.

121. As a result of the violations of Graco, Plaintiff and the Ohio Subclass members are entitled to an award of actual damages, statutory damages, as well as an award of reasonable attorney's fees.

122. As a result of the violation by Graco, Plaintiff and the Ohio Subclass were deceived by Graco's failure to disclose the true nature of the Booster Seats and could not discover this themselves before suffering their injuries.

123. The Ohio Attorney General has made available for public inspection prior state court decisions which have held that acts and omissions similar to kinds alleged in this Complaint, including, but not limited to, the concealment and/or non-disclosure of a dangerous defect, constitute deceptive sales practices in violation of Ohio's Consumer Sales Practices Act. These cases include, but are not limited to, the following:

- a. *State ex rel. Celebrezze v. Moore; Bob's Appliance Service*
(OPIF # 10000851)
- b. *Hayes v. Hamed Oriental Rugs and Imports, Inc.* (OPIF #
10002866)
- c. *State ex rel DeWine v. Foster* (OPIF # 10003069)
- d. *State ex rel DeWine v. Zig Stag, LTD* (OPIF # 10003141)
- e. *State ex rel DeWine v. US Beef Cincinnati LLC* (OPIF # 3273)
- f. *Bellinger v. Hewlett-Packard Company* (OPIF # 10002077)

124. Graco committed these and other deceptive acts in connection with the marketing and sale of the Booster Seats.

125. As a result of the violations of Graco, Plaintiff and the Ohio Subclass members are also entitled to a declaration pursuant to Ohio Rev. Code § 1345.01(D) that Graco's conduct violated Ohio law.

Fifth Claim for Relief
BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY
Ohio Rev. Code §§ 4165 and 1345
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Ohio Subclass)

126. Plaintiff repeats, realleges, and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 74 as though fully stated herein.

127. Plaintiff brings this count on behalf of herself and members of the Ohio Subclass.

128. A warranty that the Booster Seats were in merchantable condition and fit for the ordinary purpose for which such goods are used is implied by law pursuant to Ohio Rev. Code §§ 4165, 1345.

129. The Booster Seats did not comply with the implied warranty of merchantability because, at the time of sale and at all times thereafter, were not safe in a side impact crash and was defectively designed or suffered from an inherent defect, rendering the Booster Seats unfit for its intended use and purpose. This defect substantially impairs the use, value and safety of the Booster Seats.

130. Defendants are and were at all relevant times a “person” with respect to the Booster Seats, Ohio Rev. Code § 4165 (D), and a “supplier” of the Booster Seats, § 1345.01 (C).

131. Plaintiff and all Ohio Subclass members who purchased a Booster Seat are “consumers” within the meaning of Ohio Rev. Code § 1345.01 (D).

132. The Booster Seats were at all relevant times “goods” within the meaning of Ohio Rev. Code §§ 1345.01 (A) and 4165.02 (A) (1).

133. As set forth above, Plaintiff has standing to pursue this claim as she has suffered injury in fact and has lost money or property as a result of Defendants’ actions.

134. Defendants breached the warranty implied because the Booster Seats did not have “performance characteristics, uses, or benefits” that they were represented to have and the goods are not of “a particular standard” and “quality” as represented. *See* Ohio Rev. Code § 1345.02 (1) and (2). As a result, Plaintiff and Class members did not receive the goods as impliedly represented by Defendants to be merchantable.

135. Defendants breached the implied warranty of merchantability because the Booster Seats were not safe in a side impact crash and was defectively designed or suffered from an inherent defect, rendering the Booster Seats unfit for its intended use and purpose. This defect substantially impairs the use, value and safety of the Booster Seats.

136. Defendants misled consumers into believing that the Booster Seats were safe for use. Defendants took advantage of Plaintiff’s and the Class’ trust and

confidence in its brand, and deceptively sold the Booster Seats, knowing that it could cause serious injury and even death.

137. Defendants' intended beneficiaries of these implied warranties were ultimately Plaintiff and the Class, not distributors who sold the Booster Seats. Moreover, Defendants exercises substantial control over which outlets can carry and sell the Booster Seats, which are the same place that Plaintiff purchased them. In addition, Defendants' warranties are in no way designed to apply to the distributors that purchase the Booster Seats in bulk and then sell them on an individual basis to each consumer. Individual consumers are the ones who ultimately review the labels, which Defendants knows, prior to making any purchasing decisions. As a result, these warranties are specifically designed to benefit the individual consumer who purchased the Booster Seats.

138. Plaintiff and Class Members sustained damages as a direct and proximate result of Defendants' breaches in that they would not have purchased the Booster Seats if they knew the truth about the Booster Seats and that product they received was worth substantially less than the product they were promised and expected.

139. Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled to injunctive relief, attorneys' fees and costs, and any other relief that the Court deems just and equitable.

Sixth Claim for Relief
NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Nationwide Class and the Ohio Subclass)

140. Plaintiff repeats, realleges, and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 74 as though fully stated herein.

141. Since 2009, Defendants consistently represented to the public in their websites, marketing materials, and packaging of the Booster Seat that the product was safe, thoroughly tested and its design provided a safety benefit in side-impact car crashes.

142. Plaintiff relied on Defendants' misrepresentations in purchasing and using the Booster Seats.

143. At the time of sale of each Booster Seat, Defendants should have known that these representations about the safety of the Booster Seat product were false.

144. Defendants' representations that the Booster Seat was safe, thoroughly tested and its design provided a safety benefit in side-impact car crashes were material to the purchasing decisions of Plaintiff and the consuming public.

145. Defendants failed to exercise reasonable care or competence in communicating information regarding the testing design and safety of the Booster Seat.

146. These misrepresentations were made uniformly to the consuming public, including the members of the Classes. Plaintiff, and members of the Classes similarly situated to Plaintiff, relied on Defendants' representations, and would not have purchased and/or owned a Booster Seat had Defendants made the representations about its design, safety and testing.

147. As a result of Defendants' negligent misrepresentations concerning the Booster Seat, Plaintiff and members of the Classes have been damaged.

148. Plaintiff and members of the Classes have also been harmed by the same negligent misrepresentations because they were induced to purchase and/or own a product unfit for its intended use and therefore without value.

Seventh Claim for Relief
UNJUST ENRICHMENT
(On Behalf of the Nationwide Class and the Ohio
Subclass)

149. Plaintiff repeats, realleges, and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 74 as though fully stated herein.

150. Defendants have knowingly and willingly accepted and enjoyed the benefits of Plaintiff and Class members purchasing or causing the purchase the TurboBooster Seat.

151. Defendants should not be able to retain the benefit of the funds paid because the members of the Classes rendered payment with the expectation that the Booster Seat would be as represented and warranted – a well-designed product that was thoroughly tested and provided safety in a side-impact car crash.

152. Defendants deliberately misrepresented and omitted material facts regarding the actual dangers posed by the flawed design of the Booster Seat, the meaningless side-impact testing of the Booster Seat, and the illusory protection provided by the Booster Seat in a side-impact car crash. Through those misrepresentations and omissions, the Plaintiff and members of the Classes purchased the Booster Seat through which the Defendants profited.

153. Equity dictates that Defendants' ill-gotten gains be disgorged, and that the Plaintiff and members of the Classes are entitled to restitution.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the other members of the Classes, respectfully requests that this Court enter an Order:

- a. Certifying the Nationwide Class and/or Ohio Subclass and appointing Plaintiff Murphy as the Class Representative, and appointing Plaintiff's Counsel as Class Counsel under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure;
- b. A declaration that Defendants' failure to disclose the dangers of the Booster Seat was negligent, deceptive, unfair, and unlawful;
- c. Finding that Defendants' conduct was negligent, deceptive, unfair, and unlawful as alleged herein;
- d. Finding that Defendants' conduct was in violation of the statutes and common law referenced herein;
- e. Awarding Plaintiff and the other Class members actual, compensatory, and consequential damages;
- f. Awarding Plaintiff and the other Class members statutory damages and penalties, as allowed by law;
- g. Awarding Plaintiff and the other Class members restitution and disgorgement;

- h. Awarding Plaintiff and the other Class members pre-judgment and post-judgment interest;
- i. Awarding Plaintiff and the other Class members reasonable attorneys' fees costs and expenses, and
- j. Granting such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury of all claims in this Class Action Complaint so triable.

DATED: July 21, 2020

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ David J. Worley

David J. Worley

Georgia Bar No. 776665

James M. Evangelista

Georgia Bar No. 707807

EVANGELISTA WORLEY, LLC

500 Sugar Mill Road

Suite 245A

Atlanta, GA

Tel: (404) 205-8400

david@ewlawllc.com

jim@ewlawllc.com

**KANTROWITZ, GOLDHAMER &
GRAIFMAN, P.C.**

Melissa R. Emert (*PHV application
forthcoming*)

memert@kgglaw.com

Gary S. Graifman (*pro hac vice
forthcoming*)

ggraifman@kgglaw.com

747 Chestnut Ridge Road

Chestnut Ridge, New York 10977

Telephone: (845) 356-2570

Facsimile: (845) 356-4335

**CASEY GERRY SCHENK
FRANCAVILLA BLATT & PENFIELD,
LLP**

Gayle M. Blatt (*PHV application
forthcoming*)

gmb@cglaw.com

P. Camille Guerra (*PHV application
forthcoming*)

camille@cglaw.com

James M. Davis (*PHV application
forthcoming*)

jdavis@cglaw.com

110 Laurel Street

San Diego, CA 92101

Telephone: (619) 238-1811

Facsimile: (619) 544-9232

MASON LIETZ & KLINGER LLP

Gary E. Mason (*PHV application
forthcoming*)

gmason@masonllp.com

5101 Wisconsin Ave., NW, Suite 305
Washington, D.C. 20016
Telephone: (312) 283-3814

Attorneys for Plaintiff

The JS44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket record. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ATTACHED)

I. (a) PLAINTIFF(S)

JENNIFER MURPHY, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

DEFENDANT(S)

GRACO CHILDREN'S PRODUCTS, INC. and NEWELL BRANDS DTC, INC.,

(b) COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST LISTED PLAINTIFF Belmont County, OH
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)

COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST LISTED DEFENDANT
(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED

(c) ATTORNEYS (FIRM NAME, ADDRESS, TELEPHONE NUMBER, AND E-MAIL ADDRESS)

David J. Worley, James M. Evangelista and Kristi Stahnke McGregor
EVANGELISTA WORLEY LLC
500 Sugar Mill Rd., Suite 245A, Atlanta, GA 30350
Ph: (404)205-8400; david@ewlawllc.com

ATTORNEYS (IF KNOWN)

II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION
(PLACE AN "X" IN ONE BOX ONLY)

- 1 U.S. GOVERNMENT PLAINTIFF
- 2 U.S. GOVERNMENT DEFENDANT
- 3 FEDERAL QUESTION (U.S. GOVERNMENT NOT A PARTY)
- 4 DIVERSITY (INDICATE CITIZENSHIP OF PARTIES IN ITEM III)

III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES
(PLACE AN "X" IN ONE BOX FOR PLAINTIFF AND ONE BOX FOR DEFENDANT)
(FOR DIVERSITY CASES ONLY)

- | PLF | DEF | | PLF | DEF | |
|---------------------------------------|----------------------------|---|----------------------------|---------------------------------------|---|
| <input type="checkbox"/> 1 | <input type="checkbox"/> 1 | CITIZEN OF THIS STATE | <input type="checkbox"/> 4 | <input checked="" type="checkbox"/> 4 | INCORPORATED OR PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THIS STATE |
| <input checked="" type="checkbox"/> 2 | <input type="checkbox"/> 2 | CITIZEN OF ANOTHER STATE | <input type="checkbox"/> 5 | <input type="checkbox"/> 5 | INCORPORATED AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN ANOTHER STATE |
| <input type="checkbox"/> 3 | <input type="checkbox"/> 3 | CITIZEN OR SUBJECT OF A FOREIGN COUNTRY | <input type="checkbox"/> 6 | <input type="checkbox"/> 6 | FOREIGN NATION |

IV. ORIGIN (PLACE AN "X" IN ONE BOX ONLY)

- 1 ORIGINAL PROCEEDING
- 2 REMOVED FROM STATE COURT
- 3 REMANDED FROM APPELLATE COURT
- 4 REINSTATED OR REOPENED
- 5 TRANSFERRED FROM ANOTHER DISTRICT (Specify District)
- 6 MULTIDISTRICT LITIGATION - TRANSFER
- 7 APPEAL TO DISTRICT JUDGE FROM MAGISTRATE JUDGE JUDGMENT
- 8 MULTIDISTRICT LITIGATION - DIRECT FILE

V. CAUSE OF ACTION (CITE THE U.S. CIVIL STATUTE UNDER WHICH YOU ARE FILING AND WRITE A BRIEF STATEMENT OF CAUSE - DO NOT CITE JURISDICTIONAL STATUTES UNLESS DIVERSITY)

Violation of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2301, et seq. This Court has original jurisdiction pursuant to the Class Action Fairness Act ("CAFA"), 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), because the aggregate amount in controversy exceeds \$5,000,000, exclusive of interests and costs, there are more than 100 class members, and at least one class member is a citizen of a state different from Defendants.

(IF COMPLEX, CHECK REASON BELOW)

- 1. Unusually large number of parties.
- 2. Unusually large number of claims or defenses.
- 3. Factual issues are exceptionally complex
- 4. Greater than normal volume of evidence.
- 5. Extended discovery period is needed.
- 6. Problems locating or preserving evidence
- 7. Pending parallel investigations or actions by government.
- 8. Multiple use of experts.
- 9. Need for discovery outside United States boundaries.
- 10. Existence of highly technical issues and proof.

CONTINUED ON REVERSE

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

RECEIPT # _____ AMOUNT \$ _____ APPLYING IFP _____ MAG. JUDGE (IFP) _____
 JUDGE _____ MAG. JUDGE _____ (Referral) NATURE OF SUIT _____ CAUSE OF ACTION _____

VI. NATURE OF SUIT (PLACE AN "X" IN ONE BOX ONLY)

CONTRACT - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 130 RECOVERY OF OVERPAYMENT & INTERESTS, OF JUDGMENT
- 131 RECOVERY OF DELAID STUDENT (BANK) (rel. Learning)
- 132 RECOVERY OF OVERPAYMENT OF VETERAN'S BENEFITS

CONTRACT - 4 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 111 INSURANCE
- 120 MARINE
- 130 MILLER ACT
- 140 NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENT
- 151 MEDICAL ACT
- 160 STOCKHOLDERS SUITS
- 180 OTHER CONTRACT
- 190 CONTRACT PRODUCT LIABILITY
- 195 FRANCHISE

REAL PROPERTY - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 210 LAND CONDEMNATION
- 220 FORECLOSURE
- 230 RENT LEASE & EJECTMENT
- 240 RIGHTS TO LAND
- 250 TRUST PRODUCT LIABILITY
- 290 ALL OTHER REAL PROPERTY

TORTS - PERSONAL INJURY - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 310 AIRPLANES
- 315 AIRPLANE PRODUCT LIABILITY
- 320 ASSAULT, BATTERY & STUNDER
- 330 FEDERAL EMPLOYER LIABILITY
- 340 MARINE
- 345 MARINE PRODUCT LIABILITY
- 350 MOTOR VEHICLE
- 355 MOTOR VEHICLE PRODUCT LIABILITY
- 360 OTHER PERSONAL INJURY
- 362 PERSONAL INJURY - MEDICAL MALPRACTICE
- 363 PERSONAL INJURY - PRODUCT LIABILITY
- 367 PERSONAL INJURY - HEALTH CARE
- 368 PHARMACEUTICAL PRODUCT LIABILITY
- 369 ASBESTOS PERSONAL INJURY PRODUCT LIABILITY

TORTS - PERSONAL PROPERTY - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 370 OTHER FLAUID
- 371 TRUTH IN LENDING
- 380 OTHER PERSONAL PROPERTY DAMAGE
- 385 PROPERTY DAMAGE PRODUCT LIABILITY

BANKRUPTCY - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 400 APPEAL 28 USC, § 125
- 410 WITHDRAWAL 9 USC, § 17

CIVIL RIGHTS - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 420 OTHER CIVIL RIGHTS
- 430 VOTING
- 440 EMPLOYMENT
- 450 HOUSING ACCOMMODATIONS
- 455 AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES - Employment
- 460 AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES - Other
- 465 EDUCATION

IMMIGRATION - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 470 NATURALIZATION APPLICATION
- 480 OTHER IMMIGRATION ACTIONS

PRISONER PETITIONS - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 490 HABEAS CORPUS - Alien Detainees
- 500 MOTIONS TO VACATE SENTENCE
- 510 HABEAS CORPUS
- 515 HABEAS CORPUS - DEATH PENALTY
- 520 MANDAMUS & OTHER
- 530 CIVIL RIGHTS - Fed Prison
- 535 PRISON CONDITIONS - Fed Prison
- 540 CIVIL RIGHTS - CONDITIONS OF CONFINEMENT

PRISONER PETITIONS - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 550 CIVIL RIGHTS - filed by Counsel
- 555 PRISON CONDITIONS - filed by Counsel

FORFEITURE PENALTY - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 625 DRUG RELATED SEIZURE OF PROPERTY
- 630 OTHER

LABOR - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 710 FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT
- 720 LABOR/MGMT RELATIONS
- 730 RAILWAY LABOR ACT
- 740 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT
- 750 OTHER LABOR LITIGATION
- 790 ENPL RET. INC. SECURITY ACT

PROPERTY RIGHTS - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 800 COPYRIGHTS
- 810 TRADEMARK

PROPERTY RIGHTS - 18 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 850 PATENT
- 855 PATENT-ABBREVIATED NEW DRUG APPLICATIONS (ANDA) - aka Hatch-Waxman cases

SOCIAL SECURITY - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 860 HIA (HART)
- 862 BLACK L. NG (PBI)
- 863 DMV (DRIVE)
- 864 DMV (DRIVE)
- 865 SMO TITLE XVI
- 866 RSI (RIS)

FEDERAL TAX SUITS - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 870 TAXES (U.S. Plaintiff or Defendant)
- 871 IRS - THIRD PARTY (26 USC 7902)

OTHER STATUTES - 12 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 875 FALSE CLAIMS ACT
- 876 QJ Title 11 USC 1799a1
- 880 STATE REAPPORTIONMENT
- 885 BANKS AND BANKING
- 890 COMMERCIAL CODE ETC
- 895 DISCRIMINATION
- 897 BRACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS
- 898 CONSUMER CREDIT
- 899 CABLE SATTELLITE TV
- 900 OTHER STATUTORY ACTIONS
- 905 AGRICULTURAL ACTS
- 910 ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
- 915 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT
- 920 ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT
- 925 REVIEWOR APPEAL OF AGENCY DECISION
- 930 CONSTITUTIONALITY OF STATE STATUTES

OTHER STATUTES - 18 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 400 ANTI TRUST
- 500 SECURITIES COMMODITIES EXCHANGE

OTHER STATUTES - 18 MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK

- 990 ARBITRATION (Confirm Vacate Order Medical)

*** PLEASE NOTE DISCOVERY TRACK FOR EACH CASE TYPE. SEE LOCAL RULE 26.3**

VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:

CHECK IF CLASS ACTION UNDER F.R.C.P. 23 DEMAND \$ _____ TBD _____

JURY DEMAND YES NO (CHECK YES ONLY IF DEMANDED IN COMPLAINT)

VIII. RELATED/REFILED CASE(S) IF ANY

JUDGE _____ DOCKET NO. _____

CIVIL CASES ARE DEEMED RELATED IF THE PENDING CASE INVOLVES: (CHECK APPROPRIATE BOX)

- 1. PROPERTY INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT.
- 2. SAME ISSUE OF FACT OR ARISES OUT OF THE SAME EVENT OR TRANSACTION INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT.
- 3. VALIDITY OR INFRINGEMENT OF THE SAME PATENT, COPYRIGHT OR TRADEMARK INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT.
- 4. APPEALS ARISING OUT OF THE SAME BANKRUPTCY CASE AND ANY CASE RELATED THERETO WHICH HAVE BEEN DECIDED BY THE SAME BANKRUPTCY JUDGE.
- 5. REPETITIVE CASES FILED BY PRONE LITIGANTS.
- 6. COMPANION OR RELATED CASE TO CASE(S) BEING SIMULTANEOUSLY FILED (INCLUDE ABBREVIATED STYLE OF OTHER CASE(S)).

7. EITHER SAME OR ALL OF THE PARTIES AND ISSUES IN THIS CASE WERE PREVIOUSLY INVOLVED IN CASE NO. _____, WHICH WAS DISMISSED. This case IS IS NOT (check one box) SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME CASE.


 SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD

7-21-20
 DATE